Cover Page



Universiteit Leiden



The handle <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1887/22185</u> holds various files of this Leiden University dissertation

Author: Pol, Pieter van der Title: Pathogenic role of complement in renal ischemia/reperfusion injury Issue Date: 2013-11-12



General introduction

CONTENTS

1.1 ISCHEMIA/REPERFUSION INJURY

- 1.1.1 Renal ischemia/reperfusion injury
- 1.1.2 Kidney anatomy
- 1.1.3 Acute tubular necrosis
- 1.1.4 Tubular injury markers
- 1.1.5 Endothelial injury
- 1.1.6 Stress and cell death mechanisms
- 1.1.7 Inflammation

1.2 THE COMPLEMENT SYSTEM

- 1.2.1 Classical pathway
- 1.2.2 Lectin pathway
- 1.2.3 Alternative pathway
- 1.2.4 Complement regulators
- 1.2.5 Biological activities of complement
- 1.2.6 Complement production

1.3 MANNAN-BINDING LECTIN

- 1.3.1 MBL structure and ligands
- 1.3.2 MBL-associated serine proteases
- 1.3.3 MBL polymorphisms

1.4 COMPLEMENT IN RENAL I/R INJURY

- 1.4.1 Complement activation following ischemia/reperfusion
- 1.4.2 Pathogenic role of complement activation
- 1.4.3 Differential pathway activation between species
- **1.5 THESIS AIM AND OUTLINE**
- **1.6 REFERENCES**

1.1 ISCHEMIA/REPERFUSION INJURY

Ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) is an inevitable and injurious event in clinical conditions such as infarction, sepsis and solid organ transplantation. Ischemia occurs after insufficient local blood supply leading to oxygen deprivation (i.e. hypoxia), accumulation of cellular waste, nutrient deprivation and an excess of carbon dioxide (i.e. hypercapnia). Depletion of cellular energy (ATP) is the most prominent cause of cellular injury during ischemia. Reperfusion of ischemic tissue e.g., following transplantation provides oxygen as well as substrates that are necessary for tissue regeneration, restoration of energy levels and concurrent removal of toxic metabolites. Nevertheless, restoration of blood flow to ischemic tissue paradoxically exacerbates tissue damage by initiating a cascade of inflammatory events including release of reactive oxygen species (ROS), pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, recruitment of leukocytes and activation of the complement system (1-4). Such deterioration of tissue function and integrity after reperfusion is defined as ischemia/reperfusion injury (IRI). The close interaction between many cell types and mediators involved in the pathophysiology of IRI complicates the treatment of this condition. To date, no effective therapy or treatment for IRI in the clinic exists.

1.1.1 Renal ischemia/reperfusion injury

Renal I/R is an inflammatory process that leads to acute kidney injury (AKI). AKI is a clinical syndrome characterized by a rapid (hours to days) decrease in renal function and accumulation of products of nitrogen metabolism in the plasma, such as creatinine and urea. Other common clinical manifestations include decreased urine output (oliguria), accumulation of metabolic acids and increased potassium and phosphate concentrations. AKI may not only occur in the context of kidney transplantation in which I/R is inevitable, but is also a consequence of impaired kidney perfusion e.g. during major surgery or sepsis. Incidence of AKI varies from more than 5000 cases per million people per year for non-dialysis-requiring AKI, to 295 cases per million people per year for dialysisrequiring disease (5). AKI has a frequency of 1,9% in hospitalized patients (6) and is especially common in critically ill patients, in whom the prevalence of AKI is greater than 40% at admission to the intensive-care unit if sepsis is present. Occurrence is more than 36% on the day after admission to an intensive-care unit (7), and prevalence is greater than 60% during intensive-care-unit admission (2). In the renal transplant setting, ischemia during the transplant procedure, under toxic therapautical conditions (calcineurin inhibitors) or immunological injury, affects viability and promotes alloimmunity. Therefore, AKI not only has a major impact on short-term but also on long-term graft survival following kidney transplantation and is strongly associated with delayed graft function (DGF), clinical morbidity and mortality (8-12). In order to resolve the shortage of kidney donors, there is an increased use of marginal donors, including older and cardiac death donors (CDD). In contrast to organ donation from living or brain death donors, the delay between circulatory arrest and organ preservation in CDD causes additional ischemic injury in these organs. As a consequence, the incidence of DGF and primary nonfunction in CDD kidney transplantation is relatively high. Currently, approximately a quarter of all kidney transplantations in the Netherlands are performed using kidneys from CDD donors, and therefore an effective therapy for renal IRI is imperative.

1.1.2 Kidney anatomy

The human kidney (Fig 1A) contains approximately one million functional units (the nephrons; Fig 1B) that consist of a filter (the glomerulus) and a processing portion i.e. the proximal tubule, the distal tubule and collecting duct. The renal cortex is the outer portion of the kidney between the renal capsule and the renal medulla and is the part of the kidney where ultrafiltration takes place. The cortex includes the renal filters (glomeruli), Bowmans capsule and renal tubules.



Figure 1. Normal kidney and nephron with medullary microvascular anatomy. Anatomy of the kidney (A) and a nephron (B) with regions identified. Outer medulla vasculature is shown with capillaries in red and venous system in blue. The vasa recta with countercurrent exchange of oxygen resulting in a gradient of decreasing oxygen tension. Adapted by permission from Bonventre et al, J Clin Invest. 2011; copyright American Society for clinical investigation.

The renal medulla is the innermost part of the kidney and contains the loops of Henle, which are responsible for maintaining and fine-tuning the salt and water balance of the blood. The renal medulla is made up of approximately seven pyramids of which the apex or papilla points internally into the medulla. The renal papilla is the location, where the urine from the collecting ducts ends up in the calyses before it passes further into the urinary tract via the renal pelvis and ureter to the bladder.

The glomeruli produce approximately 180 liters of primary filtrate (pre-urine) every day of which only 1 to 2 liters are finally excreted as urine. Filtered metabolites in the primary filtrate are reabsorbed in the tubular structure, which is covered by a single layer of epithelial cells. These tubular cells are specialized in tubular reabsorption and are surrounded by peritubular capillaries (13). Tubular reabsorption is the process by which filtered metabolites e.g. salts, proteins and glucose are taken up from the primary filtrate and transported back into the blood via the tubular cells. Eighty percent of the renal oxygen consumption is utilized to drive the Na+-Ka+-ATPases on the basal side of the tubular cells, which are responsible for sodium reabsorption from the urine. The proximal tubular epithelial cells (PTEC) play an important role herein. The luminal surface of the epithelial cells of this segment of the nephron is covered with densely packed microvilli forming the brush border. These microvilli greatly increase the luminal surface area of the cells, facilitating their reabsorptive function (13). Because resaborption is a process with very high energy expenditure, PTEC are equipped with a vast amount of mitochondria and are highly dependent on oxidative phosphorylation.

In the cortex, the partial pressure of oxygen (PO2) is 50 mmHg, but only 10–20 mm Hg in the outer medulla, which harbors the S3 segment of the proximal tubule. This low oxygen-pressure is not only a consequence of the high metabolic requirements of the PTEC here, but is also due to the countercurrent arrangement of vessels that drain the outer and inner medulla (Fig 1B). As blood flows down toward the tip of the medulla, most of the oxygen diffuses out of the descending vasa recta into the interstitium, the space between the tubules. It can then either diffuse to the surrounding tubules, where it is consumed for active transport processes, or be reabsorbed into the ascending vasa recta and carried back to the cortex. Oxygenation of the outer medulla is therefore limited by the diffusional shunting of oxygen between descending and ascending vasa recta (14). Shortage of oxygen during and after renal ischemia therefore most profoundly affects PTEC in the S3 segment of the outer medulla, which have a high energy expenditure, but due to the countercurrent vessel arrangement a relatively low surrounding PO2.

1.1.3 Acute tubular necrosis

Ischemic AKI following renal I/R is characterized by injury to the PTEC in the S3 segment of the nephron in the outer medulla and cortico-medullary junction

(Fig 2). During an ischemic event, there is shedding of the proximal tubular brush border within several minutes (15) and loss of polarity with mislocalization of adhesion molecules, complement regulators and other membrane proteins like the Na+-Ka+-ATPase and integrins (16;17). Disruption of the cytoskeleton leads to a loss of tight and adherens junctions, which normally actively participate in function as paracellular transport, cell polarity, and cell morphology. Opening of tight junctions leads to an increased paracellular permeability and backleak of the glomerular filtrate from the lumen to the interstitium (18). Disruption of microvilli and their detachment from the apical cell surface leads to formation of membrane-bound blebs early following ischemia, which are released into the tubular lumen. In advanced ischemic injury, viable and necrotic tubular epithelial cells are desquamated, leaving the denuded basement membrane as the only barrier between the filtrate and the peritubular interstitium, resulting in even more backleak of glomerular filtrate (4;19;20). The sloughed tubular cells,



Figure 2. Ischemic acute tubular necrosis. Tubular injury is a direct consequence of metabolic pathways induced by ischemia but is potentiated by inflammation and microvascular compromise. Acute tubular necrosis is characterized by shedding of epithelial cells and denudation of the basement membrane in the proximal tubule, with backleak of filtrate and obstruction by sloughed tubular cells. *Reproduced with permission from Abuelo et al, N Engl J Med. 2007, Copyright Massachusetts Medical Society.*

14 • Chapter 1

brush-border vesicle remnants and cellular debris along with tamm-horsefall protein form characteristic tubular casts, which have the potential to obstruct the tubular lumen, thereby increasing intratubular pressure and preventing glomerular filtration in the affected nephron. Denuded basement membranes and casts obstructing tubules are therefore a hallmark of ischemic AKI (Fig 3). In addition, proximal tubular cell injury and dysfunction during ischemia/ reperfusion results in afferent arteriolar vasoconstriction mediated by the tubuloglomerular feedback, luminal obstruction and backleak of filtrate leading to a persistant regional hypoxia and additional tubular injury, even when the kidney is reperfused (21;22).



Figure 3. Ischemic acute tubular necrosis in the outer medullary region following I/R in rats. ATN is characterized by loss of the brush border and tight and adherens junctions between tubular epithelial cells (2h after I/R) followed by detachment from the basement membrane (5h after I/R). Basement membranes completely are denuded after 24h reperfusion and characteristic tubular casts of sloughed tubular cells are present in the lumen of the tubules.

1.1.4 Tubular injury markers

At present, the diagnosis of AKI is mainly based on measurement of serum creatinine and ureum levels. However, these traditional methods are not very sensitive and specific for the diagnosis of AKI, given that a 50% loss in renal function is required before creatinine levels rise (23), the method is dependent on nonrenal factors independent of kidney function (age, sex, muscle mass, infection) and several medications alter the tubular secretion of creatinine leading to changes in serum creatinine independent of glomerular filtration (24). AKI is associated with increased morbidity and mortality in critically ill patients and a quick detection is difficult with serum creatinine and ureum. A number of serum and urinary proteins have been identified that may detect AKI prior to a rise in ureum and serum creatinine. Promising new biomarkers of AKI are Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin (NGAL) and Kidney-injury molecule (KIM)-1 (25).

NGAL is a 25 kDa protein firstly identified in specific granules of the neutrophil, where it was bound to gelatinase. NGAL is an important component of innate immunity to bacterial infection and is expressed by hepatocytes, immune cells

and renal tubular cells in various disease states (25;26). NGAL is highly resistant to proteolysis, which enhance the potential suitability as a clinical biomarker. In the kidney, NGAL is produced by tubular epithelial cells of the proximal and distal segment. In addition, circulating NGAL is freely filtered by the glomerulus and is undergoing rapid clearance by the proximal tubule via receptor binding and endocytosis. In healthy kidneys, NGAL is only detectable at low levels, however, in the setting of acute tubular injury, it undergoes rapid and profound upregulation with large increases in both urine and plasma. This rapid response enables NGAL to potentially identify injured kidneys much earlier than was previously possible using traditional markers of renal function such as creatinine. The functional role of NGAL has not been completely unraveled. It seems to be involved in iron transportation to and from the proximal tubular epithelial cells. Animal studies have demonstrated a renoprotective effect of exogenously administered NGAL in the setting of acute ischemic injury (27).

Kidney injury molecule-1 (KIM-1) is a putative epithelial cell adhesion molecule containing an immunoglobulin domain (28). KIM-1 mRNA and protein are expressed at a very low level in normal kidney, however in the setting of acute tubular injury (Fig 4), its expression increases dramatically in proximal tubular



Figure 4. Kidney injury molecule (KIM)-1 after I/R. Whole rat kidney staining of KIM-1 in an (sham) untreated or clamped (45 min) kidney 24 hours after reperfusion. KIM-1 is most present in the outer medulla, which harbors proximal the cells tubular epithelial in the S3 segment of the nephron.

epithelial cells (29;30). KIM-1 has also been identified as the first nonmyeloid phosphatidylserine receptor that confers a phagocytic phenotype on injured proximal tubular epithelial cells both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (31). Similiar to NGAL, urinary KIM-1 has been found to be an early indicator of AKI that compares favorably to a number of conventional biomarkers and tubular enzymes (29;32).

1.1.5 Endothelial injury

Besides the tubular compartment of the kidney, the microvascular compartment is also critically involved in the pathophysiology of ischemic AKI, especially

during the reperfusion phase when leukocytes are able to interact with ischemic and injured endothelium (19). As stated earlier, blood flow to the outer medulla of the kidney is largely reduced following perfusion (33-36). This marked hypoperfusion of the outer medulla is persistent even though cortical blood flow improves during reperfusion after an ischemic insult. Small arterioles in kidneys following reperfusion vasoconstrict more than do vessels in normal kidneys (37;38). Enhanced vasoconstriction together with small vessel occlusion due to endothelial-leukocyte interactions and activation of the coagulation system result in local compromise of the microcirculation and regional ischemia, especially in the outer medulla further inducing tubular ischemic injury (39). Local blood flow to the outer medulla, already reduced due to arteriolar vasoconstriction, is further compromised by local edema. In addition, endothelial cells contributes to the pathology of IRI by enhanced endothelium-leukocyte interactions due to increased expression of cell adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1 on damaged endothelial cells combined with increased expression of counterreceptors on leukocytes (40). This results in activation of leukocytes, obstruction of capillaries, further activation and transmigration of leukocytes, production of cytokines, and an extensive proinflammatory state (39). Damage to the endothelium, loss of the glycocalyx, disruption of the endothelial cytoskeleton, breakdown of the perivascular matrix and alteration of endothelial cell-cell contacts all culminate in increased microvascular permeability during AKI and loss of fluid into the interstitium (19;41;42).

Renal I/R impairs the integrity of endothelial cells and leads to loss of peritubular capillaries (41;43-48). This reduced number of vessels is associated with chronic hypoxia (49), which can be expected to lead to increased tubular injury and tubulointerstitial fibrosis. Pericytes, also called perivascular fibroblasts, play a critical role in the stabilization and proliferation of peritubular capillaries via interaction with endothelial cells (50-52). Recent studies have shown that in renal I/R, pericytes detach from the endothelium and migrate to the interstitium to become activated and differentiate into myofibroblasts contributing to renal fibrosis (53;54). The critical stabilization of endothelial cells by pericytes is mediated by several angioregulatory factors, including the anti-inflammatory factor Ang-1 produced by pericytes and the pro-inflammatory factor Ang-2 produced by activated endothelial cells (52;55;56). Angiopoietins are a group of vascular regulatory molecules that bind to the receptor tyrosine kinase Tie-2, which is predominantly expressed by vascular endothelial cells. Ang-1 is a strong vascular protective agonist of the Tie-2 receptor responsible for preventing vascular leakage, maintaining endothelial cell survival and inhibiting vascular inflammation. Ang-2 acts as an antagonist of Ang-1 and in a dose dependent manner promotes destabilization, vessel leakage and inflammation. A dysbalance

towards Ang-2 will therefore lead to loosening contacts between endothelial cells and perivascular cells, with subsequent vessel destabilization and abnormal microvascular remodeling (55-57).

1.1.6 Stress and cell death mechanisms

During and following renal ischemia, several cellular stress mechanisms are activated to cope with nutrient and energy depletion, ROS formation and accumulation of toxic metabolites. During ischemia, ATP shortage caused by hypoxia and glucose deprivation decreases the calcium concentration in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) of tubular cells, thereby impairing the activity of chaperone molecules and maturation of native proteins. The accumulation of excessive amounts of mis- and unfolded proteins in the ER following ischemia causes ER-stress, which results in activation of the so called ER-stress response or unfolded protein response (UPR) (58-60). The ER-stress response is aimed to adjust cell functions in response to ER-stress and to re-establish normal ER function both at the translational and transcriptional level.

Upon accumulation of unfolded proteins, 78-kDa glucose-regulated protein (GRP78 or BIP), which is one of the most abundant ER luminal chaperones (61;62), binds to unfolded proteins and thereby dissociates from the three membranebound ER-stress sensors (Fig 5). These stress sensors include pancreatic ER kinase (PKR)-like ER kinase (PERK), inositol-requiring enzyme 1 (IRE1) and activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6). The dissociation of GRP78 from these stress sensors allows their subsequent autophosphorylation and activation.

Phosphorylated PERK decreases protein synthesis by phosphorylation of eIF2 α . Phosphorylated IRE1 increases cellular degradation of unfolded proteins by splicing of transcription factor XBP-1, inducing expression of genes involved in ER-associated protein degradation (ERAD). Proteolytic cleaved ATF6, also a transcription factor, enhances the protein folding machinery by inducing the transcription of ER-chaperones. Thus, all three pathways are critical for handling ER stress and for return to normal homeostasis. The adaptive responses to the accumulation of un- or misfolded proteins in the ER provide initial protection from cell death. However, prolonged or excessive ER-stress can trigger cell death, classically through the process of apoptosis. ER-stress-induced apoptosis is mediated by mitochondria-dependent and -independent pathways (60;63).

In renal IRI several morphologically distinct cell death programs have been recognized including type I cell death (apoptosis), type II cell death (autophagy) and type III cell death (necrosis) (64-67). These death programs are often intertwined and depending on the energy status, signaling events and therapeutics applied can occur simultaneously or as a continuum. Even features of both apoptosis and necrosis may coexist in the same cell. Moreover, the process of autophagy

is used to engulf apoptotic or necrotic cells (68). In addition, if engulfment is absent, dead cells in the late stages of apoptosis may present necrotic features due to the loss of cellular energy and plasma membrane integrity. This process is called apoptotic necrosis or secondary necrosis (69). Collectively, these death programs following renal I/R are often, although mistaken, defined as acute tubular necrosis (ATN). Apoptosis (type I) is a regulated, genetically determined mechanism designed to dismantle cells systematically (e.g. cells that are no longer functionally viable) (70). Importantly, apoptosis is therefore an energydependent process and often cannot take place during severe ischemia. The process involves an orchestrated caspase signalling cascade that ultimately leads to cell rounding and shrinkage, chromatin condensation, DNA fragmentation, blebbing of the plasma membrane and nuclear fragmentation. Subsequently, the formed apoptotic bodies can be cleared effectively by phagocytes. Therefore immunogenic endogenous molecules are not released into the extracellular environment (69;71;72) and inflammation is prevented.



Figure 5. Stress sensors in the ERstress response. Accumulation of mis- or unfolded proteins in the ER-lumen results in ER-stress and activation of the ER-stress or unfolded protein response (UPR). Release and binding of GRP78/ BiP to mis- or unfolded proteins activate the ER-stress sensors PERK. ATF6 and IRE1 at the onset of ER stress. To re-establish homeostasis and normal ER function, the ER-stress response initiates a global decrease in protein synthesis, while increasing the production of ER-chaperone

proteins and ER-associated degradation (ERAD). *Reprinted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: Cyr et al, EMBO reports (2009) 10, 1206 - 1210), copyright 2009.*

Autophagy is responsible for the degradation of cytoplasmic material, e.g. proteins and organelles, which are sequestered by intracellular doublemembrane structures called autophagosomes. These autophagosomes then subsequently fuses with lysosomes resulting in proteolytic degradation yielding new macromolecules for the synthesis of vital cellular components. Autophagy occurs at a basal level in most cells and contributes to the turnover of long-lived proteins and organelles to maintain intracellular homeostasis. In response to cellular stress (e.g. ischemia), autophagy is up-regulated and can provide an adaptive strategy for cell survival, but may also lead to autophagic cell death (type II) (69;71;72). Because of this dual role, it remains uncertain whether autophagy is a mechanism of cell death or survival in the pathophysiology of renal IRI (67;73;74).

During ischemia, necrosis (type III) takes place when insufficient ATP is available. The process involves cellular and organelle swelling, reactive oxygen species production and rupture of the plasma membrane. The processes might result in the release of intracellular molecules and danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) that can elicit a sterile inflammatory response (69;71;72). Importantly, both late apoptotic as well as necrotic cells activate the complement system (75-78).

1.1.7 Inflammation

Depletion of cellular energy is the most prominent cause of tubular injury during ischemia. Nevertheless, reperfusion of ischemic tissue paradoxically exacerbates tissue damage by initiating a cascade of inflammatory events. For this reason, deterioration of tissue function following reperfusion is often defined as reperfusion-injury, however both the injury during the ischemic and reperfusion phase is included herein. DAMPs released during ischemic tissue injury, altered or enhanced expression of membrane-bound proteins and activation of endothelial and tubular cells during reperfusion collectively promote an inflammatory environment in which both innate and adaptive immunity are involved and contribute to the pathology of IRI (39). Innate immunity is responsible for the early response to injury in a non-antigenspecific fashion and comprises humoral components including the complement system as well as innate immune cells including neutrophils, macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs). In the renal transplant setting, adaptive immunity activated by specific alloantigens is initiated within hours, lasts over the course of several days after injury and includes DC maturation and alloantigen presentation, and T- and B-lymphocyte proliferation and activation.

Tubular cells themselves also actively participate in the inflammatory response in renal IRI (79;80). In addition to generating proinflammatory and chemotactic cytokines such as TNF- α , MCP-1,IL-8,IL-6,IL-1 β and RANTES which activate inflammatory cells, tubular cells also express Toll-like receptors (TLRs), complement proteins and receptors (79;80), and costimulatory molecules, which regulate T-lymphocyte activity. Endogenous ligands released from damaged and stressed tissue signal through TLRs on tubular cells (81;82). These ligands include heat-shock proteins (binding to TLR2 and -4), the non-histone chromatin-binding protein high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) (TLR2 and -4), and ECM components such as hyaluronan (TLR2 and -4), fibronectin (TLR4), heparan sulfate (TLR4), and biglycan (TLR2 and -4) (83-88). Activation of TLR-2 and -4 on tubular cells initiates a proinflammatory response marked by the release of cytokines and chemokines, which attract inflammatory cells. In addition, tubular cells express MHCII and costimulatory molecules and can activate T-cells (80;89-91).

Neutrophils interacting with the activated endothelium, infiltrate into the interstitium and there excrete reactive oxygen species, proteases, myeloperoxidase and cytokines. These events lead to increased vascular permeability and reduced tubular epithelial and endothelial cell integrity (92), aggravating kidney injury (93).

One of the major cell types that accumulates around tubules after I/R is the macrophage (94). Proinflammatory (M1) macrophages are recruited into the kidney in the first 48 hours after I/R, whereas mannose receptor—positive, non-inflammatory (M2) macrophages predominate at later time points. Depletion of macrophages before I/R has been shown to diminish kidney injury, whereas depletion at several days after injury slows tubular cell proliferation and repair, indicating a switch from a proinflammatory to a trophic macrophage phenotype that supports the transition from tubule injury to tubule repair (95).

In addition to macrophages and DCs, also T-lymphocytes infiltrate into the kidney in both the early and later phases of AKI and can facilitate injury, but also promote repair after renal IRI (96). As a consequence of renal ischemia, there is an altered localization and expression of complement regulators on tubular cells (97), which makes these cells prone for vigorous complement activation. In addition, apoptotic as well as necrotic cells generated during I/R are potent activators of the complement system (75-78). Therefore, it is thought that also the complement system is an important contributor to renal injury and inflammatory response following IRI.

1.2 THE COMPLEMENT SYSTEM

The complement system, an essential component of the innate immune system, is a major player in host defense against invading pathogens and at the same time is closely involved in the effective clearance of apoptotic and necrotic cells. The complement cascade was first described in the late 1800s (98) and so named to reflect its capacity to enhance antibacterial activity of humoral immunity. It is a complex cascade of approximately thirty plasma and membrane-bound proteins that are stratified according to their respective surface recognition patterns into three major pathways. i.e. the classical pathway (CP), the lectin pathway (LP) and the alternative pathway (AP). Each pathway has its own characteristics of target recognition, activation and regulation, but all converge at the level of C3,

the central component of the complement system (Fig 6). Once sufficient C3 is activated and deposited, generation of the membrane attack complex (MAC) is initiated, resulting in cytolysis of the target cell (99).

1.2.1 Classical pathway

The CP is activated via binding of C1q to the Fc-tails of immunoglobulins (i.e. IgG and IgM bound to their antigen), acute phase proteins, DNA, and apoptotic cells or necrotic cell debris. When bound to its substrate, a conformational change of C1q results in the activation of its natural serine proteases C1r and C1s, which are associated with the collagen-like tail of C1q. Activated C1s then cleaves C4 into C4b which becomes covalent linked to the target. Subsequently C2 is cleaved which binds to C4b forming the classical (membrane-attached) C3 convertase, the C4b2a complex. This classical C3 convertase activates and cleaves other C3 molecules to C3b and C3a. During cleavage of C3, the internal reactive thioester bond is exposed (100) and covalently links C3b to its target, thereby functioning as an opsonin directing effective clearance by phagocytes via the C3b receptor CR1 (99).

1.2.2 Lectin pathway

The LP is activated in response to binding of the pattern recognition molecule Mannan-binding lectin (MBL) as well as L-ficolin and H-ficolin to various carbohydrate ligands. MBL is the major recognition molecule of the LP of complement activation. Activation of this pathway via MBL and ficolins resembles the CP, but (instead of C1s) the MBL-associated serine proteases (MASP)-1 or -2 are responsible for the activation of C4 and C2 (99). Single-nucleotide polymorphisms in both structural and regulatory parts of the MBL gene have been found to lead to large inter-individual variations in the concentration of functional MBL (0-4000 ng/ml) in plasma (101).

1.2.3 Alternative pathway

The AP is continuously activated at a low level (so-called tickover), does not require C4, and is tightly regulated by complement regulatory proteins, which are lacking on e.g. pathogens. The continuous hydrolysis of C3 leads to formation of C3(H2O). Factor B subsequently binds hydrolyzed C3 in the presence of factor D leading to formation of the alternative C3 convertase C3(H2O)Bb after cleavage and activation of factor B by factor D. This process results in continuous low-level production and deposition of C3b on unprotected surfaces. Deposited C3b binds factor B and subsequent cleavage by factor D results in the formation of a highly active C3 convertase, C3bBb. A very important step in this pathway is the stabilization of C3bBb by properdin which increases the lifetime of this

convertase sevenfold. The deposited C3b generated by the classical and lectin C3 convertases (C4b2a) can in turn be transformed in an alternative C3 convertase by binding of properdin and factor B, and cleavage of factor D, generating additional stable C3 convertases (C3bBbP). In this way the AP is a very potent amplifier of both the CP and LP and is thought to account for approximately 80% of deposited C3b (102-104).

1.2.4 Terminal pathway

After formation of the classical C3 convertase C4b2a or the alternative C3 convertase C3bBb, the final pathway (common to all three pathways) may be initiated. Incorporation of an additional C3b molecule in the C3 convertase leads to the formation of the C5 convertase. After activation and cleavage of C5, binding of C6, C7, C8 and multiple C9 molecules takes place resulting in the formation of the MAC, i.e. the C5b-9 complex, a lipid-soluble pore structure which can cause osmotic lysis of cells.

1.2.5 Complement regulators

Because of its tendency for rapid activation and its ability to amplify its own activation, tight regulation of complement is required. To fully prevent selfdepletion and excessive deposition on host cell two types of complement



Figure 6. The complement system. The central complement component C3 is activated by three major pathways. The classical triggered pathway is by immune surveillance molecules (such as IgG, IgM and C-reactive protein) that are bound to the activating surface, whereas the lectin pathway is initiated by carbohydrate residues on the

activating surface and the alternative pathway is triggered by direct binding of C3b to the activating surface. All three pathways progress to form enzyme complexes (classical or alternative convertases) that cleave either C3 (into C3a and C3b) or C5 (into C5a and C5b). C5b triggers the terminal pathway, which involves the formation of a multimeric membrane attack complex (C5b-9) that creates a pore in the target cell membrane. Specific cell receptors detect the soluble complement effectors (namely, C3a and C5a) and the membrane-bound effectors (namely, C3b and its metabolites inactive C3b (iC3b) and C3d). Adapted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: Atkinson et al, Nature Reviews Immunology 7, 9-18 (2007) copyright 2007.

regulatory proteins (CRPs) are present, i.e. fluid-phase and solid-phase (105). Fluid-phase CRPs circulate in the plasma and include C1 esterase inhibitor (C1INH), C4-binding protein (C4bp), factor H and S protein (vitronectin). C1INH is a serine protease inhibitor belonging to the serpin superfamily, acts as a major inhibitor of complement system activation and prevents uncontrolled activation. C1INH can inhibit both the classical and lectin pathway, and upon complement activation, C1INH binds to activated MASP or C1r and C1s to generate MASP(C1INH) (106) and C1rC1s (C1INH)2 complexes (107-109), which subsequently dissociate from the MBL or C1q molecule, respectively. These complexes are then rapidly cleared from circulation.

C4bp is a multichain inhibitor of the classical and lectin C3 convertase C4b2a and acts as a decay-accelerating factor for C4b2a and as a cofactor for cleavage of C4b to iC4b by the plasma serine-protease factor I.

Factor H is the fluid-phase inhibitor of the alternative C3 convertase C3bBb. In absence of factor H the AP will deplete itself almost completely. Upon binding to C3b, factor H competes with factor B for binding to C3b. Factor H also displaces Bb from the C3bBb convertase (decay-accelerating activity). In addition, factor H acts as a cofactor for factor I in the cleavage of C3b to inactive iC3b. Factor H can bind C3b much more easily in the presence of sialic acid which is present on all host cells but is absent on e.g. pathogens (99).

Every cell in the human body is protected by one or more cell-membraneanchored complement regulatory protein including CD35 (complement receptor 1; CR1), CD46 (Membrane cofactor protein; MCP), CD55 (Decay accelerating factor; DAF) and CD59 (protectin) which generally prevent or disable the formation of C3b (CD46, CD55) or MAC (CD59). During apoptosis (110), but also following renal ischemia/reperfusion (97), changes in surface molecules occur, leading to loss of CD46 and CD59 allowing complement activation and consequent opsonization by C3b and C4b followed by phagocytosis. Further activation of the complement cascade will lead to generation of C5b-9 and release of C5a inducing an inflammatory environment.

1.2.6 Biological activities of complement

In summary, the main biological activities (99) of the complement system are: (1) the opsonization of pathogens, apoptotic or necrotic cells mediated by the cleavage products of C3 (C3b and iC3b) and C4 (C4b); (2) the recruitment and activation of inflammatory cells by the anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a, which are proteolytically released from C3 and C5 and signal to cells and tissues via two members of the G-protein-coupled receptor family, the C3a receptor (C3aR) and C5a receptor (C5aR) respectively; (3) the direct elimination of pathogens through phagocytosis via complement receptors (e.g.. CR1, Calreticulin/CD91, C1qR) or

by cell lysis as a result of formation of the membrane attack complex (MAC, C5b-9); and (4) the tuning of adaptive immunity by downstream stimulation of B- and T-cells (111).

1.2.7 Complement production

The circulating complement components are mainly produced in the liver and are likely to be present in vast excess of locally generated components. Exceptions to these are properdin and C1q which are mainly produced by neutrophils (112) and DCs (113), respectively. A number of complement components are also produced in the kidney. Ironically, the kidney cells most profoundly targeted by complement during renal I/R, i.e. the PTEC produce vast amounts of complement proteins including C4, C2, C3, factor B and factor H (79). Also, macrophages and dendritic cells present in the interstitium can produce C1q. Pro-inflammatory cytokines upregulate expression of complement components by resident renal cells. In this respect, it was reported that expression of C3 by PTEC was strongly increased during renal allograft rejection in the mouse and in the rat, in association with both ischemic injury and rejection (114;115). In addition to complement production by resident renal cells, also leukocytes infiltrating during inflammation can produce a majority of complement factors (116;117).

1.3 MANNAN-BINDING LECTIN

MBL, initiator of the LP of complement, belongs to a family of proteins called collectins, which consists of a collagenous domain and a carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD) or lectin domain (118-120). The collectins are encoded by a cluster of genes found on the long arm of chromosome 10 in humans and chromosome 14 in mouse. In rodents, the cluster contains SP-A, SP-D, and MBL-A, but there is a second MBL-C gene, thought to have arisen by a gene duplication event, and found on chromosome 19 (121).

1.3.1 MBL structure and ligands

MBL consists of multimers of an identical polypeptide chain of 25 kDa (Fig 7). Each chain comprises four distinct regions: (1) a cysteine-rich N-terminal region; (2) a collagenous domain; (3) a short α -helical coiled-coil domain, the so-called neck region; and (4) a CRD at C-terminal (Fig 7). Three polypeptide chains form a triple helix through the collagenous region, stabilized by hydrophobic interaction and interchain disulphide bonds within the N-terminal cysteine-rich region (122). This trimeric form is the basic structural subunit of the circulating form of MBL. In circulation, this trimeric subunit can form oligomers ranging

from dimers to hexamers. The higher order oligomers of MBL (e.g. tetramers to hexamers) are the effective forms in terms of the protein functions, e.g. the glycan interaction and complement activation on microbial surfaces (123;124). MBL shows selective and calcium-dependent binding to terminal sugars D-mannose, L-fucose and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine (GlcNAc), but not to D-galactose and sialic acid (125;126). All these sugars are commonly found on the surface of many microorganisms. The α -helical coiled-coil domain provides flexibility to the orientation of the CRD of MBL that recognize the specific orientation of hydroxyl groups present in certain sugars such as D-mannose and L-fucose. However, the affinity of a single CRD for one monosaccharide is weak (127), and high-avidity binding therefore requires concurrent binding of multiple CRDs. Patterns of repeating sugar structures on microbial surfaces provide an optimal target for MBL binding. Structural studies have demonstrated that the three sugar binding sites of one MBL subunit (i.e. the triple helix) are separated at a constant distance (45 Å in human; 54 Å in rat) (122;128), offering a flat platform to recognize multiple sugars simultaneously. The clustering of the triple helix (e.g. higher order oligomers) therefore confers the ability to achieve highavidity binding. In addition to sugar structures, it has been shown that MBL can also bind to phospholipids (129) and nucleic acids (130;131).



- Figure 7. MBL structure. MBL is composed of identical 25 kDa polypeptides, including an N-terminal cysteine-rich region cross linking the polypeptides, a collagen-like stalk region, an α -helic neck region and a C-type carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD). Three polypeptide chains form a triple helix through the collagenous region. This trimeric form is the basic structural subunit of all circulating forms of MBL. MBL consists of oligomers of the subunit, ranging from dimers to hexamers. The affinity of a single CRD for a single carbohydrate is

very weak but there is increased avidity of binding when multiple CRDs of MBL interact with carbohydrates, as hexameric MBL has 18 CRDs. The lower panel illustrates one of the predominant forms of MBL found in serum, which consists of four subunits of triple helices of MBL polypeptides. Adapted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: Garred et al, Genes Immun. 2006 Mar;7(2):85-94, copyright 2006.

1.3.2 MBL-associated serine proteases

The effector ability of MBL is facilitated by activation of the LP through a specific interaction between MBL and MBL-associated serine proteases (MASPs). The

minimum functional unit required to activate the LP is a MASP dimer bound to two MBL trimeric units (132). There are three known MASPs that have been termed MASP-1, -2 and -3 (133;134). MASP-1 and MASP-2 are encoded by distinct genes whereas MASP-3 represents an alternative splice form of the MASP1 gene that lacks a serine protease domain. MASP-2 is the functionally most relevant enzyme in initiation of the lectin complement pathway. Ligand binding induces a conformational change in MASP-2 that activates the terminal serine protease domain, which is then able to cleavage C4 and C2, which together forms the classical C3 convertase C4b2a. The roles of MASP-1 and MASP-3 in lectin complement pathway actvation requires further clarification, but recently it was demonstrated that MASP-1 and MASP-3 were able to convert the proenzyme of factor D to an active form, thereby regulating the AP. In addition, MASP-1 was able to activate MASP-2 and MASP-3 as C1r activates C1s (135).

1.3.3 MBL polymorphisms

The main site of production for MBL is the liver. Although it predominantly circulates as a serum protein, MBL has also been detected at various sites, e.g. in middle ear fluid, in synovial fluid of inflamed joint and in nasopharyngeal and vaginal secretion (136;137). In humans, MBL is transcribed from the mbl2 gene, whereas the mbl1 gene is a pseudogene. The mbl2 gene in humans appears to be highly polymorphic (Fig 7). Three mbl2 gene polymorphisms have been identified that are associated with strongly decreased MBL serum concentrations. These single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) (138) are located in codon 54 (B genotype), codon 57 (C genotype), and codon 52 (D genotype) of the first exon, encoding the collagenous tail region of the MBL molecule, and are proposed to hamper the polymerization of the MBL molecule (139-141). Furthermore, SNPs in the promoter of the mbl2 gene modify the basal serum level of MBL (142). A number of studies demonstrated that low serum levels of MBL and MBL gene polymorphisms are associated with decreased pathogen resistance, mainly in childhood but also in adults (141;143-146). An increased susceptibility to infections is predominantly observed in situations in which other defense mechanisms fail, such as in patients with additional immunological defects (147-149), and in patients with other chronic diseases (144;150).

Among the complement deficiencies described in humans, deficiency of MBL has the highest frequency. Depending on ethnicity, the total allele frequency of the B, C and D allele may be above 40 % (151). Since these polymorphisms are not subject to a high negative selection pressure, it has been suggested that the polymorphisms, although conferring LP dysfunction, are also associated with host protection in certain situations (152). In this regard, epidemiological evidence has been provided for a protective role of MBL gene polymorphisms

against the induction of tissue damage in rheumatoid arthritis (153) and against the development of inflammatory bowel disease (154). Furthermore, glomerular deposition of MBL in renal diseases such as post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis (155), IgA nephropathy (137;156-158) and lupus nephritis (159) also supports a potential role for MBL in amplification of tissue injury. In this respect, an unfavorable role for MBL in renal IRI might be possible as well.

1.4 COMPLEMENT IN RENAL I/R

Although not the scope of this thesis, which mainly focusses on the role of complement in renal IRI, it is important to stress that complement activation might not only be involved in the initial phase of kidney transplantation, but may also play a main role in graft rejection following transplantation. Transplantation results in alloantigen-independent and alloantigen-dependent tissue damage. Among the potential alloantigen-independent causes of damage is the condition of the graft before transplantation including type of donor (living, brain-death or cardiac death donor), warm and cold ischemia times, the surgical procedure, and the medical treatment of the recipient, including possible drug toxicity. All these conditions can give rise to tissue injury that can lead to activation of the complement system (160). Accordingly, deposition of complement factors has been observed in graft biopsies obtained early after rejection, both in kidney and heart allografts (161;162). A critical role for local complement production in kidney transplantation has been recently established. Kidneys from C3-deficient mice showed long-term survival when transplanted in MHC-incompatible C3sufficient recipients without immune suppression, whereas C3-sufficient kidneys from the same strain were subject of rapid acute allograft rejection (115). In this respect, it has been shown that locally produced complement fragments C3a and C5a provide both costimulatory and survival signals to naive CD4+ T cells (163). In addition, antigen-presenting cell-produced C5a and C3a regulates CD4 T-cell help to CD8 T cells, which is required for allograft rejection (164). Together, these experiments provide strong evidence that C3 is a crucial factor in renal allograft rejection.

1.4.1 Complement activation following ischemia/reperfusion

Whether complement activation following ischemia/reperfusion during kidney transplantation is beneficial or detrimental has been intensively studied in several animal models over the past years. Renal I/R generates a massive and dangerous burden of dead cell material, and if not cleared efficiently might lead to inflammation and activation of an early innate response, which may be a

prerequisite for the full development of adaptive alloimmunity and subsequent allograft rejection.

All initiating factors of the complement cascade, including C1q, MBL, ficolins and properdin have been shown to interact with late apoptotic and necrotic cells in vitro (75-78) facilitating effective clearance via direct interaction with phagocytic cells or by further opsonzation via activation of the complement cascade. In this respect, opsonization by complement factors followed by efficient clearance could therefore dampen inflammation. However, the role of complement in clearance of dying tubular cells following renal I/R is unclear. Infiltration of professional phagocytic cells, e.g. macrophages in renal IRI is well-known (94;95), however this infiltrate remains mostly interstially and is very rarely observed passing the basolateral membrane entering the lumen of the tubule. Dying tubular cells detach from the basement membrane ending up in the lumen where they obstruct tubular flow. These casts may remain there for several days following AKI. In this respect, a different mechanism for apoptotic and necrotic cell clearance has been proposed recently. Expression of Kidney-injury molecule (KIM)-1 on PTEC, might transform these cells into semiprofessional phagocytes (31). KIM-1 is a type-1 membrane receptor that is the most highly upregulated protein in the proximal tubule of the injured kidney and functions as a phosphatidylserine receptor, that recognizes and internalizes apoptotic cells. KIM-1 also functions as a scavenger receptor, mediating the uptake of modified low-density lipoprotein and necrotic cellular debris. The role of complement herein is unknown, however, it is clear that activation of the complement system is one of the hallmarks of renal IRI.

Importantly, several studies mainly performed in mice have shown that complement activation following IRI is harmful and that deletion or inhibition of complement proteins protects against renal IRI, indicating that complement activation following reperfusion might induce further tissue injury and inflammation (165-171). Terminal complement cascade activation including release of C5a and formation of C5b-9 has been shown to be one the factors that contribute to tubular injury. Reperfusion of the kidney following ischemia induces endothelial activation and release of nitrous oxide leading to vasodilatation and leakage of complement components into the interstitial space. Additionally, tubular cells are able to produce complement components locally (79). In combination with a decreased expression of complement regulators at the basolateral side following I/R, viable as well as apoptotic or necrotic tubular cells are easily targeted for (terminal) complement activation. It is therefore not surprising that (terminal) complement activation is observed following renal I/R. Several studies performed in mice deficient for C3, C5, C6 (171) have shown (partial) protection against renal IRI. In addition, a very elegant kinetic IRI study

performed in mice (166) showed that the first C3 deposition was observed several hours after reperfusion and was localized on cellular debris and injured tubular epithelial cells. Intrarenal depositions of C6 were seen at 12 hours after reperfusion and increased over time. C5b-9 deposition was first observed after 18 hours of reperfusion and was distributed similar to C6 deposition, although more intense in tubular casts. Moreover, this study also indicates that inhibition of C5 protects against renal IRI with reduced renal dysfunction and neutrophil influx into the kidney. Interestingly, inhibition of C5 totally prevented C5b-9 formation, but also reduced C3 deposition, clearly indicating that terminal complement activation results in additional local inflammation and collateral damage leading to more tissue destruction and renal dysfunction in rodents. In rats, kinetics of complement activation of C3 at 24 hours of reperfusion (Fig 8). In human thus far, in-depth studies for the role and kinetics of complement activation in renal IRI are still lacking.



Figure 8. Production and deposition of complement component C3 after renal I/R. Normal rat kidney (sham) showing characteristic half-moon shaped staining of C3, reflecting local renal production. Upon renal ischemia (45 min clamping), first signs of complement activation and deposition of C3 on tubular cells are observed after 24 hours of reperfusion peaking at 48 hours. At 72 hours of reperfusion, deposition of C3 is still present on desquamated tubular epithelial cells and tubular casts in the lumen of the tubules.

1.4.2 Pathogenic role of complement activation

Although local complement activation might be injurious in renal IRI, the question remains whether activation of the complement cascade by tubular cells is the very initial trigger for cellular injury following reperfusion or that

complement merely aggravates inflammation and local tissue injury by activation of the terminal complement cascade on injured and dead cells. Currently, only one study has been published that supports the hypothesis that terminal complement activation, i.e the lytic C5b-9 complex is the initial trigger for tubular cell injury following reperfusion (171). In this study, a central role for the terminal complement cascade in renal IRI was suggested from C6-deficient mice which were partially protected. Only a minor role was ascribed to the release of C5a and subsequent recruitment of neutrophils into the kidney, given that treatment with an antibody to C5 did not show any additional protection in C6-deficient mice. In contrast, a study performed in rats (172) demonstrated that blocking of the C5aR pathway by a specific C5a receptor antagonist had a protective effect against renal dysfunction following I/R. In another study (166), blocking of C5 cleavage in mice using a monoclonal antibody and thereby preventing C5b-9 formation only abrogated late I/R-induced apoptosis and inflammation, whereas early apoptosis was not prevented, indicating that C5a does not have a direct harmful effect on tubular cells. Since both C5a and C5b-9 have been reported to be involved in the induction of inflammatory cytokines. and chemokines, such as TNF-alpha, KC, and MIP-2 (173-178), this might explain the observed protective effects. Given that tubular cell death early following reperfusion is not prevented by blocking C5, this suggests that other cell deathinducing mechanisms independent of (terminal) complement activation might be involved.

1.4.3 Differential pathway activation between species

Although the role of complement in the early pathogenesis of renal IRI has not been completely elucidated, it is clear that complement activation induces additional local inflammation and collateral damage leading to more tissue destruction and renal dysfunction. Therefore, therapeutic interference with complement activation might be an interesting option to treat and ameliorate renal IRI. However, to therapeutically target complement in renal IRI, it is important to delineate which pathways of complement activation are involved since blocking of all complement pathways early after transplantation could lead to a higher risk of e.g. urinary tract infections, a major complication following kidney transplantation.

Complement activation in the mouse kidney is mainly attributed to the alternative pathway (AP) of complement activation (179;180). Renal IRI in mice does not induce antibody deposition and subsequent CP activation (181). Furthermore, mice lacking a functional AP are protected against renal IRI (179). In contrast, RAG-1-/- mice incapable of producing antibodies are not protected, suggesting that renal IRI in mice is not mediated via the CP (181). These data have been

confirmed in C3-/-, C5-/- and C6-/- mice which are protected, whereas C4-/mice are not (181;182). This seems to be in contrast to murine models of IRI in heart, skeletal muscle, intestine and limb, which are all dependent on natural IgM and CP or LP activation.

Intriguingly, although C4-deficient mice were not protected, studies using MBLknockout mice have shown a protective effect of MBL deficiency in the setting of renal IRI (168), and also renal deposition of MBL has been demonstrated. In line with this, it has been demonstrated in several mouse models of IRI, that MBL in association with MASP-2 can bypass C4 and directly cleave C3 (183) followed by further amplification via the AP. This might explain why MBL-deficient mice are protected against renal IRI, although other effectors functions of MBL might be involved. Glycosylated tubular meprins, which bind MBL (167), might be involved in the activation of complement in the mouse kidney.

In contrast to these studies in mice, it was recently shown in a porcine IRI model that both the CP and LP might be involved. Reduced IRI is observed when pigs are treated with human C1 Inhibitor (C1INH), an inhibitor of both the CP and LP. An important difference between these species is the presence of peritubular C4d staining in pigs following reperfusion (165), which is completely absent in mice. This suggests that classical and lectin pathway activation by C1q and MBL leading to C4 deposition in the kidney following reperfusion in pigs is occurring, but is virtually absent in rodents. Importantly, C1INH has several other effector functions besides regulating complement, including regulation of coagulation and vascular permeability and inhibition of apoptosis (184-187). These effector functions might therefore also explain the observed protective effect, which lead to reduced renal IRI and subsequent less C4 and C3 deposition on tubular cells. The role and pathways of complement activation in porcine, but also human IRI is therefore not completely been elucidated yet.

Interestingly, two studies by Berger et al (101;188) were showing that high serum levels of MBL in human are associated with inferior renal allograft survival following clinical kidney transplantation, suggesting an unfavorable role for MBL in kidney transplantation. However, we can only speculate whether this was due to involvement of MBL in the initial phase during transplantation or in later rejection episodes. Altogether, these findings point towards important species-specific differences in complement activation following I/R, however in-depth studies on the mechanism and involvement of different pathways of complement activation in humans are still lacking. The possible differences in the mechanisms of complement activation by mouse and human tubular cells might have important implications for the interpretation of experimental data obtained in mice. To successfully develop therapeutic interventions targeted towards different pathways of complement activation, it is essential to establish the validity of murine data relative to what takes place in the human situation. Therefore, there is a great demand for studies analyzing the activation of complement pathways in human kidney transplantation.

1.5 THESIS AIM AND OUTLINE

The aim of the research described in this thesis was to study the role of complement in renal ischemia/reperfusion injury (IRI) and to delineate the contribution of the different complement pathways involved. So far, in human renal IRI, the activation pathways of complement by ischemic proximal tubular epithelial cells (PTEC) are still incompletely elucidated. In chapter 2 we therefore established an in vitro model to simulate IRI on human and mouse PTEC by culturing these cells under normoxic or hypoxic conditions and then investigated the subsequent effects on complement activation following reoxygenation (reperfusion). We specifically focused on the question which pathway(s) of complement activation are initiated by human and mouse PTEC after hypoxic stress. In chapter 3 we addressed the lack of evidence for involvement of complement in human IRI. We assessed the formation and release of C5b-9 during early reperfusion in clinical kidney transplantation in living donor, brain-dead donor, and cardiac dead donor kidney transplantation. Complement activation following I/R may take place in both tubular and vascular compartments. Therefore, we systematically measured terminal complement activation during early reperfusion in human kidney transplantation in both the tubular compartment by immunohistochemistry and the intravascular compartment by selective arteriovenous measurements over the transplanted kidney. In chapter 4 we studied whether C5b-9 could also be detected in urines of transplant recipients early after transplantation. In addition, we investigated the possibility whether in proteinuric urine, which is common following transplantation, C5b-9 might be generated independent of a renal contribution.

Based on previous clinical studies that high serum levels of MBL were associated with inferior renal allograft survival following clinical transplantation, we examined in **chapter 5** the role of MBL in the pathophysiology of renal IRI and explored the therapeutic targeting of MBL in a rat model of renal IRI. We identified an entirely novel role for MBL in mediating reperfusion-induced kidney injury following ischemia which is completely independent of complement activation. In **chapter 6** we studied the mechanism by which MBL might mediate tubular injury following renal I/R. Vascular leakage results in exposure of tubular cells to MBL, which was shown to be the primary culprit of tubular injury. Recombinant human C1 inhibitor (rhC1INH) is a serine protease inhibitor that inhibits

complement activation, reduces vascular permeability and interacts with MBL. In **chapter 7** we therefore explored the therapeutic application of rhC1INH in renal IRI and studied whether rhC1INH is able to attenuated MBL-mediated kidney injury. In **chapter 8** we investigated the impact of short- and long-term IRI on vascular integrity, pericytes and angiopoietin expression. Finally, in **chapter 9** the findings presented in this thesis are critically discussed and the possible implications for kidney transplantation are presented.

1.6 REFERENCES

- 1. Bellomo, R., Kellum, J.A., and Ronco, C. 2012. Acute kidney injury. Lancet 380:756-766.
- Hoste,E.A., Clermont,G., Kersten,A., Venkataraman,R., Angus,D.C., De,B.D., and Kellum,J.A. 2006. RIFLE criteria for acute kidney injury are associated with hospital mortality in critically ill patients: a cohort analysis. Crit Care 10:R73.
- Jang,H.R., and Rabb,H. 2009. The innate immune response in ischemic acute kidney injury. Clin. Immunol. 130:41-50.
- Sharfuddin,A.A., and Molitoris,B.A. 2011. Pathophysiology of ischemic acute kidney injury. Nat. Rev. Nephrol. 7:189-200.
- 5. Hsu,C.Y., McCulloch,C.E., Fan,D., Ordonez,J.D., Chertow,G.M., and Go,A.S. 2007. Community-based incidence of acute renal failure. Kidney Int. 72:208-212.
- Liangos, O., Wald, R., O'Bell, J.W., Price, L., Pereira, B.J., and Jaber, B.L. 2006. Epidemiology and outcomes of acute renal failure in hospitalized patients: a national survey. Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 1:43-51.
- 7. Bagshaw,S.M., George,C., and Bellomo,R. 2008. Early acute kidney injury and sepsis: a multicentre evaluation. Crit Care 12:R47.
- Boom,H., Mallat,M.J., de Fijter,J.W., Zwinderman,A.H., and Paul,L.C. 2000. Delayed graft function influences renal function, but not survival. Kidney Int. 58:859-866.
- Johnston, O., O'kelly, P., Spencer, S., Donohoe, J., Walshe, J.J., Little, D.M., Hickey, D., and Conlon, P.J. 2006. Reduced graft function (with or without dialysis) vs immediate graft function--a comparison of longterm renal allograft survival. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 21:2270-2274.
- 10. Pagtalunan,M.E., Olson,J.L., Tilney,N.L., and Meyer,T.W. 1999. Late consequences of acute ischemic injury to a solitary kidney. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 10:366-373.
- 11. Perico, N., Cattaneo, D., Sayegh, M.H., and Remuzzi, G. 2004. Delayed graft function in kidney transplantation. Lancet 364:1814-1827.
- 12. Yarlagadda,S.G., Coca,S.G., Formica,R.N., Jr., Poggio,E.D., and Parikh,C.R. 2009. Association between delayed graft function and allograft and patient survival: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 24:1039-1047.
- 13. de Jong, P.C. 2005. Klinische Nefrologie.
- 14. Zhang,W., and Edwards,A. 2002. Oxygen transport across vasa recta in the renal medulla. Am. J. Physiol Heart Circ. Physiol 283:H1042-H1055.
- 15. Venkatachalam, M.A., Bernard, D.B., Donohoe, J.F., and Levinsky, N.G. 1978. Ischemic damage and repair in the rat proximal tubule: differences among the S1, S2, and S3 segments. Kidney Int. 14:31-49.
- Gailit, J., Colflesh, D., Rabiner, I., Simone, J., and Goligorsky, M.S. 1993. Redistribution and dysfunction of integrins in cultured renal epithelial cells exposed to oxidative stress. Am. J. Physiol 264:F149-F157.
- 17. Zuk,A., Bonventre,J.V., Brown,D., and Matlin,K.S. 1998. Polarity, integrin, and extracellular matrix dynamics in the postischemic rat kidney. Am. J. Physiol 275:C711-C731.
- Sutton,T.A., and Molitoris,B.A. 1998. Mechanisms of cellular injury in ischemic acute renal failure. Semin. Nephrol. 18:490-497.
- Bonventre, J.V., and Yang, L. 2011. Cellular pathophysiology of ischemic acute kidney injury. J. Clin. Invest 121:4210-4221.
- 20. Devarajan,P. 2006. Update on mechanisms of ischemic acute kidney injury. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 17:1503-1520.
- Alejandro, V., Scandling, J.D., Jr., Sibley, R.K., Dafoe, D., Alfrey, E., Deen, W., and Myers, B.D. 1995. Mechanisms of filtration failure during postischemic injury of the human kidney. A study of the reperfused renal allograft. J. Clin. Invest 95:820-831.
- 22. Ramaswamy,D., Corrigan,G., Polhemus,C., Boothroyd,D., Scandling,J., Sommer,F.G., Alfrey,E., Higgins,J., Deen,W.M., Olshen,R. et al 2002. Maintenance and recovery stages of postischemic acute renal failure in humans. Am. J. Physiol Renal Physiol 282:F271-F280.
- Bellomo, R., Ronco, C., Kellum, J.A., Mehta, R.L., and Palevsky, P. 2004. Acute renal failure definition, outcome measures, animal models, fluid therapy and information technology needs: the Second International Consensus Conference of the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) Group. Crit Care 8:R204-R212.
- 24. Star, R.A. 1998. Treatment of acute renal failure. Kidney Int. 54:1817-1831.
- 25. Vaidya,V.S., Ferguson,M.A., and Bonventre,J.V. 2008. Biomarkers of acute kidney injury. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 48:463-493.
- 26. Schmidt-Ott,K.M., Mori,K., Li,J.Y., Kalandadze,A., Cohen,D.J., Devarajan,P., and Barasch,J. 2007. Dual action of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 18:407-413.
- Mori,K., Lee,H.T., Rapoport,D., Drexler,I.R., Foster,K., Yang,J., Schmidt-Ott,K.M., Chen,X., Li,J.Y., Weiss,S. et al 2005. Endocytic delivery of lipocalin-siderophore-iron complex rescues the kidney from ischemiareperfusion injury. J. Clin. Invest 115:610-621.
- 28. Ichimura, T., Bonventre, J.V., Bailly, V., Wei, H., Hession, C.A., Cate, R.L., and Sanicola, M. 1998. Kidney inju-

ry molecule-1 (KIM-1), a putative epithelial cell adhesion molecule containing a novel immunoglobulin domain, is up-regulated in renal cells after injury. J. Biol. Chem. 273:4135-4142.

- 29. Vaidya,V.S., Ramirez,V., Ichimura,T., Bobadilla,N.A., and Bonventre,J.V. 2006. Urinary kidney injury molecule-1: a sensitive quantitative biomarker for early detection of kidney tubular injury. Am. J. Physiol Renal Physiol 290:F517-F529.
- Vaidya,V.S., Ford,G.M., Waikar,S.S., Wang,Y., Clement,M.B., Ramirez,V., Glaab,W.E., Troth,S.P., Sistare,F.D., Prozialeck,W.C. et al 2009. A rapid urine test for early detection of kidney injury. Kidney Int. 76:108-114.
- 31. Ichimura,T., Asseldonk,E.J., Humphreys,B.D., Gunaratnam,L., Duffield,J.S., and Bonventre,J.V. 2008. Kidney injury molecule-1 is a phosphatidylserine receptor that confers a phagocytic phenotype on epithelial cells. J. Clin. Invest 118:1657-1668.
- 32. Han,W.K., Bailly,V., Abichandani,R., Thadhani,R., and Bonventre,J.V. 2002. Kidney Injury Molecule-1 (KIM-1): a novel biomarker for human renal proximal tubule injury. Kidney Int. 62:237-244.
- 33. Karlberg, L., Norlen, B.J., Ojteg, G., and Wolgast, M. 1983. Impaired medullary circulation in postischemic acute renal failure. Acta Physiol Scand. 118:11-17.
- Mason, J., Torhorst, J., and Welsch, J. 1984. Role of the medullary perfusion defect in the pathogenesis of ischemic renal failure. Kidney Int. 26:283-293.
- 35. Mason, J., Welsch, J., and Torhorst, J. 1987. The contribution of vascular obstruction to the functional defect that follows renal ischemia. Kidney Int. 31:65-71.
- Wolgast, M., Karlberg, L., Kallskog, O., Norlen, B.J., Nygren, K., and Ojteg, G. 1982. Hemodynamic alterations in ischaemic acute renal failure. Nephron 31:301-303.
- Conger, J.D. 1983. Vascular abnormalities in the maintenance of acute renal failure. Circ. Shock 11:235-244.
- Kwon,O., Hong,S.M., and Ramesh,G. 2009. Diminished NO generation by injured endothelium and loss of macula densa nNOS may contribute to sustained acute kidney injury after ischemia-reperfusion. Am. J. Physiol Renal Physiol 296:F25-F33.
- 39. Bonventre, J.V., and Zuk, A. 2004. Ischemic acute renal failure: an inflammatory disease? Kidney Int. 66:480-485.
- Kelly,K.J., Williams,W.W., Jr., Colvin,R.B., Meehan,S.M., Springer,T.A., Gutierrez-Ramos,J.C., and Bonventre,J.V. 1996. Intercellular adhesion molecule-1-deficient mice are protected against ischemic renal injury. J. Clin. Invest 97:1056-1063.
- Basile, D.P., Friedrich, J.L., Spahic, J., Knipe, N., Mang, H., Leonard, E.C., Changizi-Ashtiyani, S., Bacallao, R.L., Molitoris, B.A., and Sutton, T.A. 2011. Impaired endothelial proliferation and mesenchymal transition contribute to vascular rarefaction following acute kidney injury. Am. J. Physiol Renal Physiol 300:F721-F733.
- 42. Rabelink,T.J., de Boer,H.C., and van Zonneveld,A.J. 2010. Endothelial activation and circulating markers of endothelial activation in kidney disease. Nat. Rev. Nephrol. 6:404-414.
- Brodsky,S.V., Yamamoto,T., Tada,T., Kim,B., Chen,J., Kajiya,F., and Goligorsky,M.S. 2002. Endothelial dysfunction in ischemic acute renal failure: rescue by transplanted endothelial cells. Am. J. Physiol Renal Physiol 282:F1140-F1149.
- 44. Horbelt, M., Lee, S.Y., Mang, H.E., Knipe, N.L., Sado, Y., Kribben, A., and Sutton, T.A. 2007. Acute and chronic microvascular alterations in a mouse model of ischemic acute kidney injury. Am. J. Physiol Renal Physiol 293:F688-F695.
- Jung,Y.J., Kim,D.H., Lee,A.S., Lee,S., Kang,K.P., Lee,S.Y., Jang,K.Y., Sung,M.J., Park,S.K., and Kim,W. 2009. Peritubular capillary preservation with COMP-angiopoietin-1 decreases ischemia-reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury. Am. J. Physiol Renal Physiol 297:F952-F960.
- 46. Molitoris, B.A., and Sutton, T.A. 2004. Endothelial injury and dysfunction: role in the extension phase of acute renal failure. Kidney Int. 66:496-499.
- 47. Sutton,T.A., Mang,H.E., Campos,S.B., Sandoval,R.M., Yoder,M.C., and Molitoris,B.A. 2003. Injury of the renal microvascular endothelium alters barrier function after ischemia. Am. J. Physiol Renal Physiol 285:F191-F198.
- Yamamoto, T., Tada, T., Brodsky, S.V., Tanaka, H., Noiri, E., Kajiya, F., and Goligorsky, M.S. 2002. Intravital videomicroscopy of peritubular capillaries in renal ischemia. Am. J. Physiol Renal Physiol 282:F1150-F1155.
- 49. Basile, D.P. 2007. The endothelial cell in ischemic acute kidney injury: implications for acute and chronic function. Kidney Int. 72:151-156.
- 50. Armulik,A., Abramsson,A., and Betsholtz,C. 2005. Endothelial/pericyte interactions. Circ. Res. 97:512-523.
- 51. Kida,Y., and Duffield,J.S. 2011. Pivotal role of pericytes in kidney fibrosis. Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol 38:467-473.
- Schrimpf,C., Xin,C., Campanholle,G., Gill,S.E., Stallcup,W., Lin,S.L., Davis,G.E., Gharib,S.A., Humphreys,B.D., and Duffield,J.S. 2012. Pericyte TIMP3 and ADAMTS1 modulate vascular stability after kidney injury. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 23:868-883.

- 53. Duffield, J.S. 2012. The elusive source of myofibroblasts: problem solved? Nat. Med. 18:1178-1180.
- 54. Dulauroy,S., Di Carlo,S.E., Langa,F., Eberl,G., and Peduto,L. 2012. Lineage tracing and genetic ablation of ADAM12(+) perivascular cells identify a major source of profibrotic cells during acute tissue injury. Nat. Med. [Epub ahead of print].
- 55. Cai, J., Kehoe, O., Smith, G.M., Hykin, P., and Boulton, M.E. 2008. The angiopoietin/Tie-2 system regulates pericyte survival and recruitment in diabetic retinopathy. Invest Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 49:2163-2171.
- 56. Woolf,A.S., Gnudi,L., and Long,D.A. 2009. Roles of angiopoietins in kidney development and disease. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 20:239-244.
- 57. Feng,Y., vom,H.F., Pfister,F., Djokic,S., Hoffmann,S., Back,W., Wagner,P., Lin,J., Deutsch,U., and Hammes,H.P. 2007. Impaired pericyte recruitment and abnormal retinal angiogenesis as a result of angiopoietin-2 overexpression. Thromb. Haemost. 97:99-108.
- 58. Feldman, D.E., Chauhan, V., and Koong, A.C. 2005. The unfolded protein response: a novel component of the hypoxic stress response in tumors. Mol. Cancer Res. 3:597-605.
- 59. Schroder, M., and Kaufman, R.J. 2005. The mammalian unfolded protein response. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 74:739-789.
- Xu,C., Bailly-Maitre,B., and Reed,J.C. 2005. Endoplasmic reticulum stress: cell life and death decisions. J. Clin. Invest 115:2656-2664.
- 61. Liu,H., Bowes,R.C., III, van de Water,B., Sillence,C., Nagelkerke,J.F., and Stevens,J.L. 1997. Endoplasmic reticulum chaperones GRP78 and calreticulin prevent oxidative stress, Ca2+ disturbances, and cell death in renal epithelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 272:21751-21759.
- 62. Liu,H., Miller,E., van de Water,B., and Stevens,J.L. 1998. Endoplasmic reticulum stress proteins block oxidant-induced Ca2+ increases and cell death. J. Biol. Chem. 273:12858-12862.
- 63. Breckenridge, D.G., Germain, M., Mathai, J.P., Nguyen, M., and Shore, G.C. 2003. Regulation of apoptosis by endoplasmic reticulum pathways. Oncogene 22:8608-8618.
- 64. Gobe,G., Willgoss,D., Hogg,N., Schoch,E., and Endre,Z. 1999. Cell survival or death in renal tubular epithelium after ischemia-reperfusion injury. Kidney Int. 56:1299-1304.
- 65. Bonegio, R., and Lieberthal, W. 2002. Role of apoptosis in the pathogenesis of acute renal failure. Curr. Opin. Nephrol. Hypertens. 11:301-308.
- 66. Lieberthal,W., Koh,J.S., and Levine,J.S. 1998. Necrosis and apoptosis in acute renal failure. Semin. Nephrol. 18:505-518.
- Suzuki, C., Isaka, Y., Takabatake, Y., Tanaka, H., Koike, M., Shibata, M., Uchiyama, Y., Takahara, S., and Imai, E. 2008. Participation of autophagy in renal ischemia/reperfusion injury. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 368:100-106.
- 68. Oczypok,E.A., Oury,T.D., and Chu,C.T. 2013. It's a Cell-Eat-Cell World: Autophagy and Phagocytosis. Am. J. Pathol. 182:612-622.
- 69. Majno, G., and Joris, I. 1995. Apoptosis, oncosis, and necrosis. An overview of cell death. Am. J. Pathol. 146:3-15.
- 70. Smith,C.C., and Yellon,D.M. 2011. Necroptosis, necrostatins and tissue injury. J. Cell Mol. Med. 15:1797-1806.
- 71. Edinger,A.L., and Thompson,C.B. 2004. Death by design: apoptosis, necrosis and autophagy. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 16:663-669.
- 72. Kroemer, G., Galluzzi, L., Vandenabeele, P., Abrams, J., Alnemri, E.S., Baehrecke, E.H., Blagosklonny, M.V., El-Deiry, W.S., Golstein, P., Green, D.R. et al 2009. Classification of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2009. Cell Death. Differ. 16:3-11.
- 73. Jiang, M., Liu, K., Luo, J., and Dong, Z. 2010. Autophagy is a renoprotective mechanism during in vitro hypoxia and in vivo ischemia-reperfusion injury. Am. J. Pathol. 176:1181-1192.
- Liu,S., Hartleben,B., Kretz,O., Wiech,T., Igarashi,P., Mizushima,N., Walz,G., and Huber,T.B. 2012. Autophagy plays a critical role in kidney tubule maintenance, aging and ischemia-reperfusion injury. Autophagy. 8:826-837.
- Nauta,A.J., Trouw,L.A., Daha,M.R., Tijsma,O., Nieuwland,R., Schwaeble,W.J., Gingras,A.R., Mantovani,A., Hack,E.C., and Roos,A. 2002. Direct binding of C1q to apoptotic cells and cell blebs induces complement activation. Eur. J. Immunol. 32:1726-1736.
- 76. Nauta,A.J., Daha,M.R., van Kooten,C., and Roos,A. 2003. Recognition and clearance of apoptotic cells: a role for complement and pentraxins. Trends Immunol. 24:148-154.
- Nauta,A.J., Castellano,G., Xu,W., Woltman,A.M., Borrias,M.C., Daha,M.R., van Kooten,C., and Roos,A. 2004. Opsonization with C1q and mannose-binding lectin targets apoptotic cells to dendritic cells. J. Immunol. 173:3044-3050.
- Xu,W., Berger,S.P., Trouw,L.A., de Boer,H.C., Schlagwein,N., Mutsaers,C., Daha,M.R., and van Kooten,C. 2008. Properdin binds to late apoptotic and necrotic cells independently of C3b and regulates alternative pathway complement activation. J. Immunol. 180:7613-7621.
- 79. Daha,M.R., and van Kooten,C. 2000. Is the proximal tubular cell a proinflammatory cell? Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 15 Suppl 6:41-43.
- 80. van Kooten, C., Daha, M.R., and van Es, L.A. 1999. Tubular epithelial cells: A critical cell type in the regu-

lation of renal inflammatory processes. Exp. Nephrol. 7:429-437.

- Leemans, J.C., Stokman, G., Claessen, N., Rouschop, K.M., Teske, G.J., Kirschning, C.J., Akira, S., van der Poll, T., Weening, J.J., and Florquin, S. 2005. Renal-associated TLR2 mediates ischemia/reperfusion injury in the kidney. J. Clin. Invest 115:2894-2903.
- Wu,H., Chen,G., Wyburn,K.R., Yin,J., Bertolino,P., Eris,J.M., Alexander,S.I., Sharland,A.F., and Chadban,S.J. 2007. TLR4 activation mediates kidney ischemia/reperfusion injury. J. Clin. Invest 117:2847-2859.
- 83. Anders,H.J., Banas,B., and Schlondorff,D. 2004. Signaling danger: toll-like receptors and their potential roles in kidney disease. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 15:854-867.
- 84. Rifkin,I.R., Leadbetter,E.A., Busconi,L., Viglianti,G., and Marshak-Rothstein,A. 2005. Toll-like receptors, endogenous ligands, and systemic autoimmune disease. Immunol. Rev. 204:27-42.
- Marshak-Rothstein, A. 2006. Toll-like receptors in systemic autoimmune disease. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 6:823-835.
- Vabulas, R.M., Ahmad-Nejad, P., Ghose, S., Kirschning, C.J., Issels, R.D., and Wagner, H. 2002. HSP70 as endogenous stimulus of the Toll/interleukin-1 receptor signal pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 277:15107-15112.
- 87. Yu,M., Wang,H., Ding,A., Golenbock,D.T., Latz,E., Czura,C.J., Fenton,M.J., Tracey,K.J., and Yang,H. 2006. HMGB1 signals through toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 and TLR2. Shock 26:174-179.
- Schaefer,L., Babelova,A., Kiss,E., Hausser,H.J., Baliova,M., Krzyzankova,M., Marsche,G., Young,M.F., Mihalik,D., Gotte,M. et al 2005. The matrix component biglycan is proinflammatory and signals through Toll-like receptors 4 and 2 in macrophages. J. Clin. Invest 115:2223-2233.
- 89. van Kooten, C., Woltman, A.M., and Daha, M.R. 2000. Immunological function of tubular epithelial cells: the functional implications of CD40 expression. Exp. Nephrol. 8:203-207.
- Wahl, P., Schoop, R., Bilic, G., Neuweiler, J., Le, H.M., Yoshinaga, S.K., and Wuthrich, R.P. 2002. Renal tubular epithelial expression of the costimulatory molecule B7RP-1 (inducible costimulator ligand). J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13:1517-1526.
- de Haij S., Woltman,A.M., Trouw,L.A., Bakker,A.C., Kamerling,S.W., van der Kooij,S.W., Chen,L., Kroczek,R.A., Daha,M.R., and van Kooten,C. 2005. Renal tubular epithelial cells modulate T-cell responses via ICOS-L and B7-H1. Kidney Int. 68:2091-2102.
- 92. Jang,H.R., and Rabb,H. 2009. The innate immune response in ischemic acute kidney injury. Clin. Immunol. 130:41-50.
- Awad,A.S., Rouse,M., Huang,L., Vergis,A.L., Reutershan,J., Cathro,H.P., Linden,J., and Okusa,M.D. 2009. Compartmentalization of neutrophils in the kidney and lung following acute ischemic kidney injury. Kidney Int. 75:689-698.
- 94. Day,Y.J., Huang,L., Ye,H., Linden,J., and Okusa,M.D. 2005. Renal ischemia-reperfusion injury and adenosine 2A receptor-mediated tissue protection: role of macrophages. Am. J. Physiol Renal Physiol 288:F722-F731.
- 95. Lee, S., Huen, S., Nishio, H., Nishio, S., Lee, H.K., Choi, B.S., Ruhrberg, C., and Cantley, L.G. 2011. Distinct macrophage phenotypes contribute to kidney injury and repair. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 22:317-326.
- 96. Linfert, D., Chowdhry, T., and Rabb, H. 2009. Lymphocytes and ischemia-reperfusion injury. Transplant. Rev. (Orlando.) 23:1-10.
- Thurman, J.M., Ljubanovic, D., Royer, P.A., Kraus, D.M., Molina, H., Barry, N.P., Proctor, G., Levi, M., and Holers, V.M. 2006. Altered renal tubular expression of the complement inhibitor Crry permits complement activation after ischemia/reperfusion. J. Clin. Invest 116:357-368.
- 98. Lachmann, P. 2006. Complement before molecular biology. Mol. Immunol. 43:496-508.
- 99. Walport, M.J. 2001. Complement. First of two parts. N. Engl. J. Med. 344:1058-1066.
- 100. Janssen, B. J., Christodoulidou, A., McCarthy, A., Lambris, J. D., and Gros, P. 2006. Structure of C3b reveals conformational changes that underlie complement activity. Nature 444:213-216.
- Berger,S.P., Roos,A., Mallat,M.J., Fujita,T., de Fijter,J.W., and Daha,M.R. 2005. Association between mannose-binding lectin levels and graft survival in kidney transplantation. Am. J. Transplant. 5:1361-1366.
- Harboe, M., Ulvund, G., Vien, L., Fung, M., and Mollnes, T.E. 2004. The quantitative role of alternative pathway amplification in classical pathway induced terminal complement activation. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 138:439-446.
- 103. Harboe, M., and Mollnes, T.E. 2008. The alternative complement pathway revisited. J. Cell Mol. Med. 12:1074-1084.
- Harboe, M., Garred, P., Karlstrom, E., Lindstad, J.K., Stahl, G.L., and Mollnes, T.E. 2009. The down-stream effects of mannan-induced lectin complement pathway activation depend quantitatively on alternative pathway amplification. Mol. Immunol. 47:373-380.
- Trouw,L.A., Blom,A.M., and Gasque,P. 2008. Role of complement and complement regulators in the removal of apoptotic cells. Mol. Immunol. 45:1199-1207.
- 106. Matsushita, M., Thiel, S., Jensenius, J.C., Terai, I., and Fujita, T. 2000. Proteolytic activities of two types of mannose-binding lectin-associated serine protease. J. Immunol. 165:2637-2642.
- 107. Arlaud,G.J., Reboul,A., Sim,R.B., and Colomb,M.G. 1979. Interaction of C1-inhibitor with the C1r and

38 • Chapter 1

C1s subcomponents in human C1. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 576:151-162.

- 108. Sim,R.B., Arlaud,G.J., and Colomb,M.G. 1979. C1 inhibitor-dependent dissociation of human complement component C1 bound to immune complexes. Biochem. J. 179:449-457.
- Ziccardi,R.J. 1981. Activation of the early components of the classical complement pathway under physiologic conditions. J. Immunol. 126:1769-1773.
- 110. Elward,K., Griffiths,M., Mizuno,M., Harris,C.L., Neal,J.W., Morgan,B.P., and Gasque,P. 2005. CD46 plays a key role in tailoring innate immune recognition of apoptotic and necrotic cells. J. Biol. Chem. 280:36342-36354.
- Dunkelberger, J.R., and Song, W.C. 2010. Complement and its role in innate and adaptive immune responses. Cell Res. 20:34-50.
- Wirthmueller, U., Dewald, B., Thelen, M., Schafer, M.K., Stover, C., Whaley, K., North, J., Eggleton, P., Reid, K.B., and Schwaeble, W.J. 1997. Properdin, a positive regulator of complement activation, is released from secondary granules of stimulated peripheral blood neutrophils. J. Immunol. 158:4444-4451.
- 113. Castellano,G., Woltman,A.M., Nauta,A.J., Roos,A., Trouw,L.A., Seelen,M.A., Schena,F.P., Daha,M.R., and van Kooten,C. 2004. Maturation of dendritic cells abrogates C1q production in vivo and in vitro. Blood 103:3813-3820.
- 114. Pratt, J.R., Abe, K., Miyazaki, M., Zhou, W., and Sacks, S.H. 2000. In situ localization of C3 synthesis in experimental acute renal allograft rejection. Am. J. Pathol. 157:825-831.
- 115. Pratt,J.R., Basheer,S.A., and Sacks,S.H. 2002. Local synthesis of complement component C3 regulates acute renal transplant rejection. Nat. Med. 8:582-587.
- 116. Daha,M.R., and van Kooten,C. 2000. Is there a role for locally produced complement in renal disease? Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 15:1506-1509.
- 117. Zhou,W., Marsh,J.E., and Sacks,S.H. 2001. Intrarenal synthesis of complement. Kidney Int. 59:1227-1235.
- 118. Holmskov,U., Thiel,S., and Jensenius,J.C. 2003. Collections and ficolins: humoral lectins of the innate immune defense. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 21:547-578.
- 119. Epstein, J., Eichbaum, Q., Sheriff, S., and Ezekowitz, R.A. 1996. The collectins in innate immunity. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 8:29-35.
- 120. Garred, P., Larsen, F., Seyfarth, J., Fujita, R., and Madsen, H.O. 2006. Mannose-binding lectin and its genetic variants. Genes Immun. 7:85-94.
- 121. Drickamer,K., Dordal,M.S., and Reynolds,L. 1986. Mannose-binding proteins isolated from rat liver contain carbohydrate-recognition domains linked to collagenous tails. Complete primary structures and homology with pulmonary surfactant apoprotein. J. Biol. Chem. 261:6878-6887.
- 122. Sheriff,S., Chang,C.Y., and Ezekowitz,R.A. 1994. Human mannose-binding protein carbohydrate recognition domain trimerizes through a triple alpha-helical coiled-coil. Nat. Struct. Biol. 1:789-794.
- 123. Lu,J.H., Thiel,S., Wiedemann,H., Timpl,R., and Reid,K.B. 1990. Binding of the pentamer/hexamer forms of mannan-binding protein to zymosan activates the proenzyme C1r2C1s2 complex, of the classical pathway of complement, without involvement of C1q. J. Immunol. 144:2287-2294.
- 124. Yokota,Y., Arai,T., and Kawasaki,T. 1995. Oligomeric structures required for complement activation of serum mannan-binding proteins. J. Biochem. 117:414-419.
- 125. Weis,W.I., Drickamer,K., and Hendrickson,W.A. 1992. Structure of a C-type mannose-binding protein complexed with an oligosaccharide. Nature 360:127-134.
- Drickamer,K. 1992. Engineering galactose-binding activity into a C-type mannose-binding protein. Nature 360:183-186.
- 127. lobst,S.T., Wormald,M.R., Weis,W.I., Dwek,R.A., and Drickamer,K. 1994. Binding of sugar ligands to Ca(2+)-dependent animal lectins. I. Analysis of mannose binding by site-directed mutagenesis and NMR. J. Biol. Chem. 269:15505-15511.
- 128. Weis,W.I., and Drickamer,K. 1994. Trimeric structure of a C-type mannose-binding protein. Structure. 2:1227-1240.
- 129. Kilpatrick,D.C. 1998. Phospholipid-binding activity of human mannan-binding lectin. Immunol. Lett. 61:191-195.
- 130. Palaniyar,N., Nadesalingam,J., Clark,H., Shih,M.J., Dodds,A.W., and Reid,K.B. 2004. Nucleic acid is a novel ligand for innate, immune pattern recognition collectins surfactant proteins A and D and mannose-binding lectin. J. Biol. Chem. 279:32728-32736.
- 131. Palaniyar, N., Nadesalingam, J., and Reid, K.B. 2003. Innate immune collectins bind nucleic acids and enhance DNA clearance in vitro. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1010:467-470.
- 132. Chen,C.B., and Wallis,R. 2004. Two mechanisms for mannose-binding protein modulation of the activity of its associated serine proteases. J. Biol. Chem. 279:26058-26065.
- Dahl,M.R., Thiel,S., Matsushita,M., Fujita,T., Willis,A.C., Christensen,T., Vorup-Jensen,T., and Jensenius,J.C. 2001. MASP-3 and its association with distinct complexes of the mannan-binding lectin complement activation pathway. Immunity. 15:127-135.
- 134. Feinberg, H., Uitdehaag, J.C., Davies, J.M., Wallis, R., Drickamer, K., and Weis, W.I. 2003. Crystal structure

of the CUB1-EGF-CUB2 region of mannose-binding protein associated serine protease-2. EMBO J. 22:2348-2359.

- 135. Sekine,H., Takahashi,M., Iwaki,D., and Fujita,T. 2013. The role of MASP-1/3 in complement activation. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 735:41-53.
- Bulla, R., De, S.F., Radillo, O., Agostinis, C., Durigutto, P., Pellis, V., De, S.D., Crovella, S., and Tedesco, F. 2010. Mannose-binding lectin is produced by vaginal epithelial cells and its level in the vaginal fluid is influenced by progesterone. Mol. Immunol. 48:281-286.
- 137. Malhotra,R., Wormald,M.R., Rudd,P.M., Fischer,P.B., Dwek,R.A., and Sim,R.B. 1995. Glycosylation changes of IgG associated with rheumatoid arthritis can activate complement via the mannose-binding protein. Nat. Med. 1:237-243.
- 138. Roos, A., Daha, M.R., van, P.J., and Berger, S.P. 2007. Mannose-binding lectin and the kidney. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 22:3370-3377.
- Lipscombe,R.J., Sumiya,M., Hill,A.V., Lau,Y.L., Levinsky,R.J., Summerfield,J.A., and Turner,M.W. 1992. High frequencies in African and non-African populations of independent mutations in the mannose binding protein gene. Hum. Mol. Genet. 1:709-715.
- 140. Madsen,H.O., Garred,P., Kurtzhals,J.A., Lamm,L.U., Ryder,L.P., Thiel,S., and Svejgaard,A. 1994. A new frequent allele is the missing link in the structural polymorphism of the human mannan-binding protein. Immunogenetics 40:37-44.
- 141. Sumiya,M., Super,M., Tabona,P., Levinsky,R.J., Arai,T., Turner,M.W., and Summerfield,J.A. 1991. Molecular basis of opsonic defect in immunodeficient children. Lancet 337:1569-1570.
- 142. Madsen,H.O., Garred,P., Thiel,S., Kurtzhals,J.A., Lamm,L.U., Ryder,L.P., and Svejgaard,A. 1995. Interplay between promoter and structural gene variants control basal serum level of mannan-binding protein. J. Immunol. 155:3013-3020.
- 143. Garred, P., Madsen, H.O., Hofmann, B., and Svejgaard, A. 1995. Increased frequency of homozygosity of abnormal mannan-binding-protein alleles in patients with suspected immunodeficiency. Lancet 346:941-943.
- Hibberd,M.L., Sumiya,M., Summerfield,J.A., Booy,R., and Levin,M. 1999. Association of variants of the gene for mannose-binding lectin with susceptibility to meningococcal disease. Meningococcal Research Group. Lancet 353:1049-1053.
- Koch,A., Melbye,M., Sorensen,P., Homoe,P., Madsen,H.O., Molbak,K., Hansen,C.H., Andersen,L.H., Hahn,G.W., and Garred,P. 2001. Acute respiratory tract infections and mannose-binding lectin insufficiency during early childhood. JAMA 285:1316-1321.
- Summerfield, J.A., Ryder, S., Sumiya, M., Thursz, M., Gorchein, A., Monteil, M.A., and Turner, M.W. 1995. Mannose binding protein gene mutations associated with unusual and severe infections in adults. Lancet 345:886-889.
- Mullighan, C.G., Heatley, S., Doherty, K., Szabo, F., Grigg, A., Hughes, T.P., Schwarer, A.P., Szer, J., Tait, B.D., Bik, T.L. et al 2002. Mannose-binding lectin gene polymorphisms are associated with major infection following allogeneic hemopoietic stem cell transplantation. Blood 99:3524-3529.
- 148. Neth,O., Hann,I., Turner,M.W., and Klein,N.J. 2001. Deficiency of mannose-binding lectin and burden of infection in children with malignancy: a prospective study. Lancet 358:614-618.
- 149. Peterslund, N.A., Koch, C., Jensenius, J.C., and Thiel, S. 2001. Association between deficiency of mannose-binding lectin and severe infections after chemotherapy. Lancet 358:637-638.
- 150. Garred, P., Madsen, H.O., Halberg, P., Petersen, J., Kronborg, G., Svejgaard, A., Andersen, V., and Jacobsen, S. 1999. Mannose-binding lectin polymorphisms and susceptibility to infection in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 42:2145-2152.
- 151. Madsen,H.O., Satz,M.L., Hogh,B., Svejgaard,A., and Garred,P. 1998. Different molecular events result in low protein levels of mannan-binding lectin in populations from southeast Africa and South America. J. Immunol. 161:3169-3175.
- 152. Garred,P., Harboe,M., Oettinger,T., Koch,C., and Svejgaard,A. 1994. Dual role of mannan-binding protein in infections: another case of heterosis? Eur. J. Immunogenet. 21:125-131.
- 153. Garred, P., Madsen, H.O., Marquart, H., Hansen, T.M., Sorensen, S.F., Petersen, J., Volck, B., Svejgaard, A., Graudal, N.A., Rudd, P.M. et al 2000. Two edged role of mannose binding lectin in rheumatoid arthritis: a cross sectional study. J. Rheumatol. 27:26-34.
- Rector,A., Lemey,P., Laffut,W., Keyaerts,E., Struyf,F., Wollants,E., Vermeire,S., Rutgeerts,P., and Van,R.M. 2001. Mannan-binding lectin (MBL) gene polymorphisms in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. Genes Immun. 2:323-328.
- 155. Ohsawa,I., Ohi,H., Endo,M., Fujita,T., Matsushita,M., and Fujita,T. 1999. Evidence of lectin complement pathway activation in poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis. Kidney Int. 56:1158-1159.
- Endo,M., Ohi,H., Ohsawa,I., Fujita,T., Matsushita,M., and Fujita,T. 1998. Glomerular deposition of mannose-binding lectin (MBL) indicates a novel mechanism of complement activation in IgA nephropathy. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 13:1984-1990.
- 157. Matsuda,M., Shikata,K., Wada,J., Sugimoto,H., Shikata,Y., Kawasaki,T., and Makino,H. 1998. Deposition of mannan binding protein and mannan binding protein-mediated complement activation in the glomeruli of patients with IgA nephropathy. Nephron 80:408-413.
- 40 Chapter 1

- 158. Roos,A., Rastaldi,M.P., Calvaresi,N., Oortwijn,B.D., Schlagwein,N., van Gijlswijk-Janssen,D.J., Stahl,G.L., Matsushita,M., Fujita,T., van Kooten,C. et al 2006. Glomerular activation of the lectin pathway of complement in IgA nephropathy is associated with more severe renal disease. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 17:1724-1734.
- 159. Lhotta,K., Wurzner,R., and Konig,P. 1999. Glomerular deposition of mannose-binding lectin in human glomerulonephritis. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 14:881-886.
- Baldwin,W.M., III, Larsen,C.P., and Fairchild,R.L. 2001. Innate immune responses to transplants: a significant variable with cadaver donors. Immunity. 14:369-376.
- 161. Pratt, J. R., Hibbs, M. J., Laver, A. J., Smith, R. A., and Sacks, S. H. 1996. Effects of complement inhibition with soluble complement receptor-1 on vascular injury and inflammation during renal allograft rejection in the rat. Am. J. Pathol. 149:2055-2066.
- 162. Sund,S., Hovig,T., Reisaeter,A.V., Scott,H., Bentdal,O., and Mollnes,T.E. 2003. Complement activation in early protocol kidney graft biopsies after living-donor transplantation. Transplantation 75:1204-1213.
- Strainic,M.G., Liu,J., Huang,D., An,F., Lalli,P.N., Muqim,N., Shapiro,V.S., Dubyak,G.R., Heeger,P.S., and Medof,M.E. 2008. Locally produced complement fragments C5a and C3a provide both costimulatory and survival signals to naive CD4+ T cells. Immunity. 28:425-435.
- Vieyra,M., Leisman,S., Raedler,H., Kwan,W.H., Yang,M., Strainic,M.G., Medof,M.E., and Heeger,P.S. 2011. Complement regulates CD4 T-cell help to CD8 T cells required for murine allograft rejection. Am. J. Pathol. 179:766-774.
- Castellano,G., Melchiorre,R., Loverre,A., Ditonno,P., Montinaro,V., Rossini,M., Divella,C., Battaglia,M., Lucarelli,G., Annunziata,G. et al 2010. Therapeutic targeting of classical and lectin pathways of complement protects from ischemia-reperfusion-induced renal damage. Am. J. Pathol. 176:1648-1659.
- 166. de Vries, B., Matthijsen, R.A., Wolfs, T.G., Van Bijnen, A.A., Heeringa, P., and Buurman, W.A. 2003. Inhibition of complement factor C5 protects against renal ischemia-reperfusion injury: inhibition of late apoptosis and inflammation. Transplantation 75:375-382.
- Hirano, M., Ma, B.Y., Kawasaki, N., Oka, S., and Kawasaki, T. 2011. Role of interaction of mannan-binding protein with meprins at the initial step of complement activation in ischemia/reperfusion injury to mouse kidney. Glycobiology 22:84-95.
- Moller-Kristensen, M., Wang, W., Ruseva, M., Thiel, S., Nielsen, S., Takahashi, K., Shi, L., Ezekowitz, A., Jensenius, J.C., and Gadjeva, M. 2005. Mannan-binding lectin recognizes structures on ischaemic reperfused mouse kidneys and is implicated in tissue injury. Scand. J. Immunol. 61:426-434.
- 169. Thurman, J.M., Ljubanovic, D., Edelstein, C.L., Gilkeson, G.S., and Holers, V.M. 2003. Lack of a functional alternative complement pathway ameliorates ischemic acute renal failure in mice. J. Immunol. 170:1517-1523.
- Thurman, J.M., Royer, P.A., Ljubanovic, D., Dursun, B., Lenderink, A.M., Edelstein, C.L., and Holers, V.M. 2006. Treatment with an inhibitory monoclonal antibody to mouse factor B protects mice from induction of apoptosis and renal ischemia/reperfusion injury. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 17:707-715.
- 171. Zhou,W., Farrar,C.A., Abe,K., Pratt,J.R., Marsh,J.E., Wang,Y., Stahl,G.L., and Sacks,S.H. 2000. Predominant role for C5b-9 in renal ischemia/reperfusion injury. J. Clin. Invest 105:1363-1371.
- 172. Arumugam,T.V., Shiels,I.A., Strachan,A.J., Abbenante,G., Fairlie,D.P., and Taylor,S.M. 2003. A small molecule C5a receptor antagonist protects kidneys from ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats. Kidney Int. 63:134-142.
- Bless, N.M., Huber-Lang, M., Guo, R.F., Warner, R.L., Schmal, H., Czermak, B.J., Shanley, T.P., Crouch, L.D., Lentsch, A.B., Sarma, V. et al 2000. Role of CC chemokines (macrophage inflammatory protein-1 beta, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, RANTES) in acute lung injury in rats. J. Immunol. 164:2650-2659.
- 174. Czermak,B.J., Sarma,V., Bless,N.M., Schmal,H., Friedl,H.P., and Ward,P.A. 1999. In vitro and in vivo dependency of chemokine generation on C5a and TNF-alpha. J. Immunol. 162:2321-2325.
- 175. Kilgore,K.S., Flory,C.M., Miller,B.F., Evans,V.M., and Warren,J.S. 1996. The membrane attack complex of complement induces interleukin-8 and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 secretion from human umbilical vein endothelial cells. Am. J. Pathol. 149:953-961.
- 176. Kilgore,K.S., Schmid,E., Shanley,T.P., Flory,C.M., Maheswari,V., Tramontini,N.L., Cohen,H., Ward,P.A., Friedl,H.P., and Warren,J.S. 1997. Sublytic concentrations of the membrane attack complex of complement induce endothelial interleukin-8 and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 through nuclear factor-kappa B activation. Am. J. Pathol. 150:2019-2031.
- 177. Morgan, B.P. 1989. Complement membrane attack on nucleated cells: resistance, recovery and nonlethal effects. Biochem. J. 264:1-14.
- 178. Nicholson-Weller, A., and Halperin, J.A. 1993. Membrane signaling by complement C5b-9, the membrane attack complex. Immunol. Res. 12:244-257.
- 179. Thurman, J.M., Ljubanovic, D., Edelstein, C.L., Gilkeson, G.S., and Holers, V.M. 2003. Lack of a functional alternative complement pathway ameliorates ischemic acute renal failure in mice. J. Immunol. 170:1517-1523.
- Thurman, J.M., Ljubanovic, D., Royer, P.A., Kraus, D.M., Molina, H., Barry, N.P., Proctor, G., Levi, M., and Holers, V.M. 2006. Altered renal tubular expression of the complement inhibitor Crry permits complement activation after ischemia/reperfusion. J. Clin. Invest 116:357-368.

- Park, P., Haas, M., Cunningham, P.N., Bao, L., Alexander, J.J., and Quigg, R.J. 2002. Injury in renal ischemiareperfusion is independent from immunoglobulins and T lymphocytes. Am. J. Physiol Renal Physiol 282:F352-F357.
- 182. Zhou,W., Farrar,C.A., Abe,K., Pratt,J.R., Marsh,J.E., Wang,Y., Stahl,G.L., and Sacks,S.H. 2000. Predominant role for C5b-9 in renal ischemia/reperfusion injury. J. Clin. Invest 105:1363-1371.
- Selander,B., Martensson,U., Weintraub,A., Holmstrom,E., Matsushita,M., Thiel,S., Jensenius,J.C., Truedsson,L., and Sjoholm,A.G. 2006. Mannan-binding lectin activates C3 and the alternative complement pathway without involvement of C2. J. Clin. Invest 116:1425-1434.
- 184. Davis,A.E., III, Cai,S., and Liu,D. 2004. The biological role of the C1 inhibitor in regulation of vascular permeability and modulation of inflammation. Adv. Immunol. 82:331-363.
- 185. Davis,A.E., III, Lu,F., and Mejia,P. 2010. C1 inhibitor, a multi-functional serine protease inhibitor. Thromb. Haemost. 104:886-893.
- Fu,J., Lin,G., Wu,Z., Ceng,B., Wu,Y., Liang,G., Qin,G., Li,J., Chiu,I., and Liu,D. 2006. Anti-apoptotic role for C1 inhibitor in ischemia/reperfusion-induced myocardial cell injury. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 349:504-512.
- 187. Liu, D., Zhang, D., Scafidi, J., Wu, X., Cramer, C.C., and Davis, A.E., III 2005. C1 inhibitor prevents Gramnegative bacterial lipopolysaccharide-induced vascular permeability. Blood 105:2350-2355.
- Berger, S.P., Roos, A., Mallat, M.J., Schaapherder, A.F., Doxiadis, I.I., van Kooten, C., Dekker, F.W., Daha, M.R., and de Fijter, J.W. 2007. Low pretransplantation mannose-binding lectin levels predict superior patient and graft survival after simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 18:2416-2422.

1